U. S. Department of Justice

United States Attorney

Northern District of Iowa

600 Fourth Street 712-255-

Suite 670 712-252-  fax)
Sioux City, IA 51101 712-258- tty)

ywvember 4, 2015

Mr. Leon F. Spies, Esq.

Mellon & Spies, Attorneys

312 E. College Street, Suite 216
Towa City, Iowa 52240

Re:  United States v. Thomas A. Munson
Dear Mr. Spies:

This letter will serve as a memorandum of a sixth proposed plea agreement
between the United States Attorney’s Office for e Northern District of Iowa and
Thomas A. Munson, defendant. All references to the “United States” or
“government” in this sixth proposed plea agreement 1 “:r to the United States
Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of Iowa and to no other governmental

atity. This sixth proposed plea agreement will expire on November 6, 2015
at 5:00 p.m. unless otherwise extended by the government. The proposed plea
agreements of November 10, 2014, September 4, 2015, September 23, 2015,
October 1, 2015, and October 28, 2015 have expired and/or were rejected by
defendant.

CHARGES AND PENALTIES

. AW Defendant will waive Indictment and plead guilty to an Information
that will charge one count of embezzling, stealing, purloining, converting to his own
use, and concealing human remains in the possession of the United States in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §( L

2 o Defendant understands that Count 1 of the Information is

punishaoie by the following maximum penalties: (1) not more than one year’s
imprisonment without the possibility of parole or a term of probation of not more
than five years; (2) a fine of not more than $100,000; (3) a mandatory special
assessment of $25; and (4) a term of supervised release of not more than one year.

3 (&} Defendant may be subject to the alternative fine provisions of 18
U.S.C. § 3571. Under this section, the maximum fine t} ay be imposed on

EXHIBIT 1
(Plea)
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defendant is the greatest of the following amounts: (1) twice the gross gain to
defendant resulting from the offense; (2) twice the gross loss resulting from the
offense; (3) $100,000; or (4) the amount specified in the section defining the offense.

; Defendant understands restitution and a term of supervised release
following incarceration may be imposed in addition to any other sentence.
Defendant further acknowledges tl ;, if defendant violates, at any time, any
condition of supervised release, defendant uld be returned to prison for the full
term of supervised ease and the Court is not required to grant credit for any
amount of time defendant may have successfully completed on supervised release.
Defendant also understands the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines will provide advisory
guic 1ce to the Court in determining a sentence in this case.

S.M At the time the guilty plea is entered, defendant will admit that
defendant is guilty of the charge specified in Paragraph 1 of this agreement. The
U.S. Attorney’s Office for this District will file no additional Title 16 Archaeological
Resources Protection Act-related or Title 18 false statement or obstruction-related
or theft-related criminal charges based solely upon information now in our
possession. If this office becomes aware of evidence of additional crimes warranting
criminal prosecution, all information in our possession could be used in such a
prosecution.

NON-COOPERATION

G.i_ﬂ_m_ Defendant understands and concedes that, although defendant is

not required by the terms of this plea agreement to testify before any Court or

and jury, the United States may take the prescribed actions under 18 U.S.C.

6001, et. seq. or any other applicable provision of law to compel defendant’s
testimony. Defendant agrees that, if defendant refuses to testify after being
granted immunity and ordered by the Court to testify, defendant may be found to be
in contempt of court and may be punished in accordance with Federal Rule of

riminal Procedure «+ and 18 U.S.C. §§ 401 and 402. Further, the United States
Attorney’s Office shall be permitted ) pursue any other action available to require
defendant’s testimony or punish defendant’s refusal to testify subsequent to any

der requiring defendant to testify. Defendant understands and agrees that,
because defendant is not cooperating with the go mment, the United States will
not recommend any decrease under §5K1.1 or any other provision of the United
States Sentencing Guic ines or under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e) or any other provision of
law.
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STIPULATION OF FACTS

7.3/\’ m By initialing each of the following paragraphs, defendant stipulates
to the following facts. Defendant agrees these facts are true and may be used to
establish a factual basis for defendant’s guilty plea and sentence. Defendant has
been advised by defendant’s attorney of defendant’s rights under Federal Rule of
Criminal Procedure 11(f) and Federal Rule of Evidence 410. Defendant waives
these rights and agrees this stipulation may be used against defendant at any time
in any proceeding should defendant violate or refuse to follow through on this plea
agr1 ment, regardless whether the plea agreement has been accepted by the
Court. Defendant agrees that the stipulation below is a summary of the facts
against defendant and does not constitute all of the facts the government would be
able to prove at trial and may be able to prove to the Court in accordance with this
agreement.

a) PM_ Thomas A. Munson, defendant, was an employee of the National
Park Service from July of 1964 to May 1994 and served as
Superintendent at Effiy Mounds National Monument from
February 1971 until his retirement in May of 1994.

b) . N The Native American Graves Protection and Repartition Act, 25
U.S.C. §§ 3001 - 3013, enacted on November 16, 1990,
established a regulatory system with the goal of transferring
ownership, inventorying and returning Native American

altural items” in the possession of federal agencies and
museums to those lineal descendants or tribal organizations
, with a cultural affiliation to the human remains and associated
funerary objects. 25 U.S.C. §§ 3001 — 3013.

c) %(l\ W] As part of the enforcement regime, the Act provided for civil
penalties for failing to comply with the Act, see 5 U.S.C. § 3007
and judicial enforcement of the Act. 25 U.S.C. § 3013.

d) Y;M’\ Effigy Mounds National Monument located in Allamakee
County, Iowa and operated by the National Park Service was
established by a Presidential Proclamation by Harry S. Truman
on October 25, 1949 under the Antiquities Act of 1906. The
monument was established primarily to protect over 200 known
prehistoric earthen burial mounds, some in the shape of
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b AL

animals, constructed between 700 and 2,500 years ago. The
monument land is held in fee simple by the National Park
Service, United States Department of the Interior. The
monument is an area of concurrent federal jurisdiction.

The following tribes are affiliated with Effigy Mounds National
Monument -- and for the purposes of this case -- are (along with
the National Park Service) defendant’s victims pursuant to the
Victim and Witness Protection Act, Title I of the Justice for All
Act, and the regulations promulgated under the Act by the
Attorney General of the United States: (1) lowa Tribe of Kansas
and Nebrasl - (2) Iowa Tribe of Oklahoma; (3) Otoe-Missouri
Tribe of Oklahoma; (4) Ho-Chunk Nation of Wisconsin; (5)
Winnebago Tribe of Nebraska; (6) Upper Sioux Community of
Minnesota; (7) Shakopee Mdewakanton Sioux Community of
Minnesota; (8) Lower Sioux Indian Community of Minnesota; (9)
Prairie Island Indian Community of Minnesota; (10) Sac and
Fox Tribe of the Mississippi in Iowa; (11) Sac and Fox Nation of
Missouri in Kansas and Nebraska; and (12) Sac and Fox Nation
of Oklahoma.

No later than July 16, 1990, defendant decided to voluntarily,
intentionally and knowingly remove skeletal prehistoric human
remains from the Effigy Mounds National Monument collection
to which they belonged.

On or about July 16, 1990, S.G. and defendant each

carried a box of human remains from the Effigy Mounds
National Monument curatorial facility to Munson’s car. Munson
drove the items to his Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin home where
he concealed them and covered them up for more than twenty
years. At all times, defendant knew the boxes con ined human
remains from the Effigy Mounds National Monument.

On May 17, 2012, defendant allowed a Special Agent to

search his home’s garage. The Special Agent then located the
set 1d box of human remains. The contents of the box were
marked with Effigy Mounds catalogue numbers. Munson stated
he knew both boxes contained human remains and were in his
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garage the whole time.

Several of the human bones were broken or fragmented beyond
recognition. As a direct result of defendant’s crimes the
National Park Service has already spent $83,905 and will be
required to spend at least another $25,000 in restoration and
repair costs. Defendant is, therefore, responsible for at least
$108,905 in restitution to the National Park Service.

Sometime between about Ju 16, 1990 and May 17, 2012 in the
Northern District of ITowa and elsewhere, the defendant, did
knowingly conceal and cover up a tangible object (i.e., whole and
fragmentary prehistoric human remains and related objects
from Effigy Mounds National Monument).

- From about July 16, 1990 to about May 17, 2012 in the Northern

District of Iowa and elsewhere, the defendant, willfully and
knowingly did embezzle and convert to his own use human
remains in the possession of the United States, which had come
into the possession and under the care of defendant by virtue of
his employment as Superintendent at Effigy Mounds National
..Jonument, National Park Service, Department of the Interior.

Defendant, had a tru or fiduciary relationship with the United
States and the Tribes isociated with the Effigy Mounds.

m) g .. The human remains came into the possession or care of the

defendant by virtue of his employment as Superintendent at
Effigy Mounds National Monument.

The human remains were in the possession of the United States
and the Tribes associated with Effigy Mounds.

The defendant's dealings with the human remains (e.g., his
removal of them from the park, concealing of them for twenty-
two years, efc.) constituted a fraudulent conversion or
appropriation of the human remains to his own use.
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1% /k/Defendant understands that, pursuant to the Victim and Witness
Protection Act, Title I of the Justice for All ct, and the regulations promulgated
under the Act by the Attorney General of the United States:

A. The victim of a crime is given the opportunity to comment on the
offense and make recommendations regarding e sentence to be
imposed. Defendant understands the victim’s comments and
recommendations may be different from those of the parties to this
agreement.

B. The government is required to consult with victims of serious crimes to
obtain their views regarding the appropriate disposition of the case
against defendant and to make any such information regarding
sentencing known to the Court. Defendant understands any victim’'s
opinions and recommendations may be different from those presented
by the government.

C. The government is required to “fully advocate the rights of victims on
the issue of restitution unless such advocacy would unduly complicate
the sentencing proceeding,” and the Court is authorized to order
restitution by defendant to victims of crime, including, but not limited
to, restitution for property loss, personal injury, or death.

CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION

13.:!{& if probation or a term of supervised release is ordered, the parties
are free to seek whatever conditions they deem appropriate consistent with the
other provisions of this plea agreement.

FINANCIAL MATTERS

14 efendant agrees to pay a special assessment of $25 per count, for
a total of $25, as required by 18 U.S.C. § 3013. Defendant may pay the special
assessment to the Clerk of Court by credit card or use the enclosed payment coupon.
Defendant or defendant’s representative will send or deliver the special assessment
payment to the U.S. District Clerk of Court, 111 Seventh Avenue, SE, Box 12,
Cedar Rapids, IA 52401. If defendant does not pay the Clerk of Court by credit
card, payment must be in the form of a money order made out to the “U.S. District
Clerk of Court.” The special assessment must be paid before this signed agreement
is returned ) the U.S. Attorney’s Office. If defendant fails to pay the special
assessment prior to the sentencing, defendant stipulates that a downward
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ljustment for acceptance of responsibility under USSG §3E1.1 is not appropriate
unless the Court finds defendant has no ability to pay prior to the sentencing.

~—~

1! h~Defendant agrees to pay restitution to all victims in this case,
including rel¢ nt conduct victims. This restitution obligation shall include, but
may not be limited to, $108,905 to the National Park Service for the restoration and
repair of archeological resource (including repatr tion and reburial costs).
Defendant understands that, because restitution is mandatory, the amount of
restitution shall be imposed regardless of defendant's financial resources. Any
restitution obligation should be paid to the Clerk of Court for eventual

isbursement to the victim(s). Complete restitution shall be due and payable at or
before the time of sentencing. Defendant agrees to cooperate in efforts to collect the
restitution obligation, by e.g., set-off of program payments, execution on exempt and
non-exempt property or any other means the United States deems appropriate.
Defendant understands imposition or payment of restitution will not restrict or
pr. lude the filing of any civil suit or administrative action. Defendant agrees any
restitution imposed will be non-dischargeable in any bankruptcy proceeding and
defendant will not seek a discharge or a finding of dischargeability as to the
restitution obligation.

161 ¢ Jefendant agrees to fully and truthfully complete the enclosed
financial statement form. Further, upon request, defendant agrees to provide the
U.S. Attorney's Office with any information or documentation in defendant’s
possession or control regarding defendant’s financial affairs and agrees to submit to
a debtor's examination wh  requested. Defendant agrees to provide this
information whenever requested until such time any judgment or claim against
defendant, including principal and interest, is satisfied in full. This information will
be used to evaluate defendant’s capacity to pay ay claim or judgment against
defendant.

GENERAL MATTERS

17 _ YW~Pefendant shall not violate any local, state, or federal law during
the pendency of this agreement. Any law violation, with the exception of speeding
or parking violations, committed by defendant will constitute a breach of this
agreement and may result in the revocation of the entire agreement or any of its
terms. Defendant or defendant’s attorney shall notify this office within 3 hours if
defendant is questioned, charged, or arrested for any law violation.
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l&j W II defendant violates any term or condition of this plea agreement,
in any respect, the entire agreement will be deemed to have been breached and may
be rendered null and void by the United States. Defendant understands, however,
the government may elect to proceed with the guilty plea and sentencing. These
decisions shall be in the sole discretion of the United States. If defendant does
breach this agreement, defendant faces the following consequences: (1) all
testimony and other information defendant has provided at any time (including any
stipulations in this agreement) to attorneys, employees, or law enforcement officers
of the government, to the Court, or to the federal grand jury may and will be used
against defendant in any prosecution or proceeding; (2) the United States will be
entitled to reinstate previously dismissed charges and/or pursue additional charges
against defendant and to use any information obtained directly or indirectly from
defendant in those additional prosecutions; and (3) the United States will be
released from any obligations, agreements, or restrictions imposed upon it under
this plea agreement.

19& [\, _Defendant waives all claims defendant may have based upon the
statute of limitations, the Speedy Trial Act, and the speedy trial provisions of the
Sixth Amendment to the Constitution. Defendant also agrees any delay between
the signing of this agreement and the final disposition of this case constitutes
excludable time under 18 U.S.C. § 3161 et seq. (the Speedy Trial Act) and related
provisions.

WAIVER OF APPEAL

20.5 (*“After conferring with defendant’s attorney and after being advised
of defendant’s appeal rights, defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives
defendant’s right to appeal the conviction and the sentence imposed, or to request or
receive any reduction in sentence by operation of 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(2). Defendant
also waives the right to file post-conviction relief actions, including actions pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(2), 28 U.S.C. § 2255, 28 U.S.C. § 2241, coram nobis, and
motions to reconsider or reduce defendant’s sentence. Defendant retains the right
to appeal or contest defendant’s sentence in the following limited circumstances: (1)
if the sentence is not in accordance with this plea agreement; (2) if the sentence
imposed exceeds the maximum statutory penalty; and (3) if the sentence is
constitutionally defective. This waiver does not, however, prevent defendant from
challenging the effectiveness of defendant’s attorney after conviction and
sentencing. Defendant does not have any complaints at this time about the
effectiveness of defendant’s attorney. The waivers set out above re e  any issues
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